

Charging forward. Saving lives.

Need-to-Know Information for the SCHOOL NURSE



Table of Contents

V	Introduction	3
	What is Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (VEDS)?	
	What are the features of VEDS?	
	What causes VEDS?	
	Who has VEDS?	4
	How is VEDS diagnosed?	
	What is life like for someone with VEDS?	5
	What emergencies could arise for someone with VEDS?	5
V	Identification of Students in Need of an Evaluation	8
	The School Nurse's Role in Identification of VEDS	
	General Appearance	8
	 Sports Pre-participation Physical Evaluations (PPE) 	8
	Assessment of Suspected Child Abuse	9
V	What To Do if You Think a Student Needs Further Evaluation	10
V	Special Considerations for Students Living with VEDS	11
	What are Individualized education plans (IEP) & 504 plans?	11
	What are Individualized health plans (IHP) and Emergency Care plans?	12
	What is the impact of medical problems on the student and what are the	
	suggested accommodations?	13
	What social and psychological problems do students with VEDS face?	15
V	Physical Education & Activity Guidelines	16
	What should I know about physical activity for students with VEDS?	16
	What if VEDS is not formally diagnosed but suspected?	
	What are the different types of exercise and competition?	17
	What are the classifications of sports and activities?	17
	How does a student's medication impact physical activity?	18
	 What are some guidelines and modifications that permit safer exercise for students 	
	with VEDS?	18
	How can parents and teachers guide a child to safe physical activity and exercise?	18
	What are the suggested accommodations for students with VEDS?	19
V	Additional Resources and Attachments	21
	The VEDS Movement Publications	21
	Emergency Care Plan Template	22
	 VEDS Medical Action Plan 	
	 Sample Letter and Checklist of VEDS Features 	24
	 Individualized Health Plan (IHP) 	
	National Association of School Nurse Statements on IHP & ECP	30



♥ Introduction

The school nurse plays an important leadership role in prevention of illness or injury, identification of medical problems through screening programs, and overall health maintenance. This is particularly important when a student has a chronic condition that requires more intense monitoring. One such condition is Vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, otherwise known as VEDS. It is estimated that between 6,000 and 8,000 people in the United States have VEDS, although many are not diagnosed until a lifethreatening emergency occurs.

The school nurse is in a unique position to identify students in need of an evaluation for VEDS. Sensitive and professional communication of this concern can help identify, diagnose, and manage students who might otherwise have slipped through the cracks. Early diagnosis and management is crucial in order to assure that those affected get the care they need.

What is Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (VEDS)?

VEDS is a life-threatening genetic condition of the body's connective tissue, specifically collagen, which helps hold the body's cells and tissues together. Due to a lack of functional collagen in the body, a person with VEDS has fragile tissue. This makes them prone to life-threatening events, including arterial dissections and ruptures, aneurysms, hollow organ ruptures, carotid cavernous fistulae, and lung collapses. These can happen with minimal trauma or spontaneously in someone with VEDS.

There are also several conditions related to VEDS that cause people to struggle with similar physical problems, and anyone affected by these conditions also needs an early and accurate diagnosis.



What are the features of VEDS?

Some features of VEDS are easier to see than others, although not everyone with VEDS has these features. These include:

- Hypermobility or "double-jointedness" of the small joints (typically the fingers and hands)
- Thin, translucent skin with easily visible veins
- Small, narrow nose
- Small chin
- Large or sunken eyes
- Thin lips
- Easy bruising
- Aged appearance of the skin, usually on the hands
- Early onset varicose veins
- Sleeping with the eyes open or partially open

Harder-to-detect signs include:

• Artery dissections and aneurysms

Other signs include:

- Sudden collapse of a lung
- Congenital hip dislocation
- Clubfoot
- Rupture of the hollow organs, typically the colon

What causes VEDS?

VEDS is caused by a change (mutation) in the gene that tells the body how to make collagen III, a protein that is an important part of connective tissue. These mutations result in a reduced amount of functional collagen III in the body. Collagen III is like the "glue" in the body that holds the hollow organs and arteries together.



Who has VEDS?

It is estimated that about 1 in 40,000 to 60,000 people have VEDS, but many people do not know they have it. This includes people of all genders, races, and ethnic groups. People can inherit VEDS; that is, they get the mutation from a parent who has it. This happens in about half of people with VEDS. Other people have a spontaneous mutation, meaning that they are the first in their family to have it. People are born with VEDS, but many people are not diagnosed until a major life-threatening event due to under recognition of the condition. People with VEDS have a 50 percent chance of passing the mutation on each time they have a child.



How is VEDS diagnosed?

A VEDS diagnosis can often be suspected after exams of several parts of the body by doctors experienced with connective tissue conditions, including:

- A detailed medical and family history, including information about any family member who may have the condition or who had an early, unexplained, death.
- A complete physical examination and tests to identify VEDS features that are not visible during the physical exam.

Genetic testing is crucial to making an accurate diagnosis and differentiating between other conditions which may resemble VEDS.

What is life like for someone with VEDS?

Most people with VEDS can work, go to school, and enjoy active hobbies, although they will need to adapt their physical activity to reduce their risk of arterial events. With an early diagnosis, helpful medical monitoring and activity adjustments can begin early in life. In general, they should not play active team sports that have a risk of collision. In addition, they should not lift heavy objects when at work, home, or the gym. Someone with VEDS may have a reduced quality of life due to the nature of the condition, unpredictable presentation of medical emergencies, lack of a cure or treatment, and reduced life expectancy.

What emergencies could arise for someone with VEDS?

People with VEDS are at increased risk for emergencies involving the aorta, eyes, arteries, lungs, uterus, and hollow organs (like the intestinal tract). These include:

Arterial Dissection and Rupture

Arterial dissection is a tear between the layers of the artery wall, and arterial rupture is a full tear of all the layers of the artery wall. Dissection or rupture can occur in any artery in the body, including the aorta, the large blood vessel that carries blood away from the heart. Aortic dissection can be fatal if not treated immediately, and any arterial dissection can be an emergency. An evaluation is needed immediately. Arterial dissection and rupture are uncommon in children with VEDS, but the risk may increase after puberty. Symptoms include:

- Sudden onset pain; may be "severe," "sharp," "tearing," or "ripping" and may be located anywhere in the body, depending on which artery is affected. Sometimes, the pain is less severe, but a person still has a feeling that "something is very wrong."
- Nausea
- Shortness of breath
- Fainting or lightheadedness
- Loss of pulse
- Tingling, numbness, burning, prickling of the skin (parasthesia)
- Paralysis

The presentation of an artery dissection may be very different depending on where the artery dissection occurs.

- If the dissection occurs in the arteries in the head or neck, pain may be accompanied by stroke symptoms, including a droopy eyelid with a small pupil on the same side. A room spinning sensation or dizziness may be present, as well as difficulty seeing.
- If the dissection occurs in the coronary artery, the symptoms may be similar to or cause a heart attack, or cause abnormalities in heart rhythm.
- If the dissection occurs in the aorta, severe pain usually in the chest (front, back or both) but occasionally in the abdomen if the tear begins there.

Additional symptoms that may occur with full arterial rupture include:

- Rapid swelling of the area
- Nausea, which may be accompanied with vomiting
- Clammy skin
- Stroke symptoms may occur if the ruptured artery is in the brain

Collapsed Lung (Pneumothorax)

Collapsed lung happens when air or gas collects in the space between the lungs and the chest and prevents the lung from inflating completely, symptoms include:

- Chest pain, sudden onset; sharp and may lead to feelings of tightness in the chest
- Shortness of breath
- Rapid heart rate
- Rapid breathing
- Cough
- Fatigue
- Skin may develop bluish color (cyanosis) due to decreased blood oxygen level

Ocular

Carotid Cavernous Sinus Fistula formation (CCSF) is a medical emergency which may occur without injury or trauma. CCSF is an abnormal connection between an artery in your neck and the network of veins at the back of your eye. This formation happens as a result of a small tear that sometimes occurs in one of the carotid arteries. Signs of a CCSF are:

- Sudden onset of a swooshing sound in the head
- Redness of the eye
- Pain around the eye
- Bulging of the eye
- Slow onset of blurred vision

Bowel Perforation

Bowel perforation occurs when the wall of the bowels (typically a hollow organ, such as the intestines) tears. This allows fecal matter to enter the abdominal cavity, and can result in sepsis and death. In patients with VEDS, a bowel perforation may occur in the sigmoid colon (lower left quadrant of the abdomen). Esophageal and gastric rupture have rarely been reported.

Symptoms of an intestinal perforation include:

- Abdominal pain that gradually increases and becomes severe or debilitating. This is usually in the lower left quadrant of the abdomen, because usually the perforation is in the sigmoid colon.
- Nausea
- Vomiting
- Chills
- Rectal bleeding
- Fever

Uterine Rupture

Pregnancy is an uncommon occurrence in childhood or adolescence. However, emergencies with VEDS pregnancies do occur. Uterine rupture can occur in the third trimester. A uterine rupture occurs when the wall of the uterus tears. The baby may move into the abdominal cavity outside of the uterus. This is a medical emergency for both the baby and the mother. Signs of a uterine rupture may include:

- Discomfort in the lower area of the belly or lower back pain that is intermittent (like uterine contractions)
- An acute, severe pain in the lower abdomen (can feel like ripping pain), sometimes shoulder pain.
- Blood in the urine.
- Bloody vaginal discharge with dark brown or bright red bleeding.
- Change in the contour/shape of the belly- where the baby bump has been located.
- On fetal heart rate monitor, there are abnormalities in the fetal heart rate pattern.
- New low blood pressure, dizziness, fainting, maternal pulse is barely palpable and fast heart rate.

♥ Identification of Students in Need of Evaluation

The School Nurse's Role in Identification of VEDS

A school nurse will never be called upon to make the diagnosis of VEDS, but can play a critical role in recognizing the features and possibly encouraging the student's parent to speak to their doctor about further evaluation.

Screenings already conducted in most schools provide opportunities to raise suspicion of VEDS including:

- general appearance
- sports pre-participation physical evaluations
- assessment of suspected child abuse

General Appearance

A number of features may indicate VEDS, as outlined above. The presence or absence of any one feature is not enough to diagnose or rule out VEDS. Children with VEDS frequently bruise easily or get injured frequently. They may have prominent or deep-set eyes, a small chin, and thin lips, as well as a small nose. Some may be smaller in stature than their peers. Some may have very flexible joints, although this is typically limited to the smaller joints in the body. Some may also have an aged appearance to the hands or feet.

Sports Pre-participation Physical Evaluations (PPE)

It is generally expected that all students will have a thorough pre-participation evaluation before any student is allowed to play sports or participate in any physical education activities. If conducted properly, the PPE provides a great opportunity to identify individuals who have not been diagnosed previously. Unfortunately, the quality and comprehensiveness of PPE forms vary greatly from state to state.

The following are recommendations from the American Heart Association regarding preparticipation screening in athletes:

 A complete and careful personal and family history and physical examination designed to identify (or raise suspicion of) those cardiovascular lesions known to cause sudden death or disease progression in young athletes is the best available and most practical approach to screening populations of competitive sports athletes, regardless of age. Such cardiovascular screenings are an obtainable objective and should be mandatory for all athletes. They



recommend that both a history and a physical examination be performed before participation in organized sports, and repeated every two years.

- Athletic screenings should be performed by a healthcare worker with the requisite training, medical skills, and background to reliably obtain a detailed cardiovascular history, perform a physical examination, and recognize heart disease.
- Athletic screening evaluations should include key questions to determine

(1) prior occurrence of exertional chest pain/discomfort or syncope/near-syncope as well as excessive, unexpected, and unexplained shortness of breath or fatigue associated with exercise;

(2) past detection of a heart murmur or increased systemic blood pressure; and

(3) family history of premature death (sudden or otherwise), or significant disability from cardiovascular disease in close relative(s) younger than 50 years old or specific knowledge of occurrence of conditions such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, dilated cardio-myopathy, long QT syndrome, clinically important arrhythmias, or Marfan syndrome.

Assessment of Suspected Child Abuse

Because children with VEDS bruise easily and may be injured frequently, the parents or guardians may come under suspicion of child abuse. In some cases, children who did not have a diagnosis of VEDS have been removed from their families due to this suspicion and no other perceived reasonable cause for the bruising, only to be reunited with their families later after the diagnosis of VEDS has been made. It is important that children who present with complications which resemble VEDS be evaluated for this condition.

It is also important to remember that child abuse and VEDS are not mutually exclusive. While in many cases the bruising can be explained by VEDS, there may be cases where a child both has VEDS and is being abused. It is important that cases of suspected child abuse are very carefully evaluated.

♥ What To Do if You Think a Student Needs Further Evaluation

VEDS is relatively uncommon and because the severity of the outward physical characteristics can vary greatly, our community of experts estimates that many of the people who have VEDS don't know it. Without proper diagnosis and monitoring, they are at high risk for aortic dissection, arterial dissection and rupture, and sudden death.

When routine screenings indicate the need for further evaluation, the school nurse plays a critical role and should encourage the student's parent to speak to their doctor about further evaluation.

When referring a student for evaluation for VEDS, take care to provide a complete explanation of why you are making the referral.



♥ Special Considerations for Students Living with VEDS

Barriers to learning and classroom participation arise from the multiple body systems affected by VEDS. Issues that may need accommodations are listed in sections below. Appropriate interventions are needed according to the difficulties each child may face.

Students with VEDS usually spend a lot of time with doctors, in hospitals, and getting medical tests. In some cases, they may to miss school for surgery, physical rehabilitation, or other treatments. Some students take this in stride, while others are stressed and/or frightened. In some cases at-home lesson plans may need to be provided for long term recoveries. The school should be inclusive with all school activities and other information of what is happening at the school so the child feels like they are still a part of their class and school community.



What are Individualized Education Plans (IEP) & 504 Plans?

VEDS does not cause cognitive disabilities, but some students experience learning disabilities, emotional trauma, and mental instability secondary to the condition. These effects can relate directly to dealing with difficult physical traits, operations, and pain or they may occur as side effects of medication.

Therefore, a student with VEDS may require an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or a 504 Plan.

An Individualized Education Plan (IEP) is required by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) so that eligible students can receive special education and related services. It requires a thorough evaluation, provides the widest range of services and accommodations, and entitles parents to be active participants. However, the eligibility requirements are many and, in some cases, carries stigma because of the special education component.

The 504 Plan was created by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 for students who require school accommodations, but who are not eligible for special education. It is easier to qualify for a 504 than an IEP, but the 504 offers fewer services. There are also fewer legal protections to ensure compliance. Unlike the IEP, a 504 Plan may be adopted and changed with little to no parental involvement.

Both types of plans may include accommodations ranging from an extra set of textbooks to leave at home to wheelchair ramps. They should be reviewed and updated annually.

The purposes of instituting an IEP or 504 Plan are to:

- Enable the student to be independent in school
- Support the student's acceptance and self-esteem
- Allow the student to adapt and cope at school within their limitations
- Keep the student safe from predictable physical injury
- Facilitate communication between the student, parents/guardians and school staff about health needs and accommodations in school

Teachers, administrators, and parents should work together as a team to determine which plan is better for a student and work together to develop it.

The plan works best when each member of the team includes all other members in general correspondence. However, any member can update parents about the student without including other team members. This is to allow for candid, open, and unfiltered communication about the student as often as possible. Team meetings should be held as often as necessary in response to any changes in the student's condition or specific events at the school.

Your school district should have readily available a template for developing an IEP or a 504 Plan. There are many common issues that affect students with VEDS that should be considered in the development of either type of plan.

What are Individualized Health Plans (IHP) & Emergency Care Plans (ECP)?

In addition to an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or 504 Plan, a student with VEDS should have an Individualized Health Plan (IHP) and an Emergency Care Plan (ECP), coordinated by the school nurse. Classroom teachers should be aware of these plans, as well.



The Individualized Health Plan (IHP) outlines the healthcare services a student needs during the school day. Prepared by the school nurse in collaboration with the student, parents/guardians, teachers, school officials, and healthcare providers, it includes a thorough assessment of the student's physical and mental health and educational activity, along with guidance for school personnel. It should be reviewed and revised as needed at least once a year.

The Emergency Care Plan (ECP) is a shorter document (typically one page) that contains information about the student's condition and provides contact information for family, physicians, hospitals, and an ambulance service in the event of a medical emergency. Teachers, as well as the school nurse, principal, and other adults in the student's life should have a copy of it readily available. It may be beneficial to include a picture of the student in the ECP to assist a new or substitute teacher identify the student.

What is the impact of medical problems on the student and what are the suggested accommodations?

Overall, students with VEDS may require a modified curriculum and/or alternative to physical education class. It is also important for school officials and teachers to understand and tolerate extended absence for medical treatments and/or surgery. Collaboration with the entire educational team and family is important to ensure the student does not fall behind.

Here is a breakdown of the different parts of the body affected by VEDS and suggested accommodations.

Heart and Blood Vessels

Medical Problems

- Aortic root enlargement/aortic aneurysm (rare)
- Aortic dissection (relatively rare in school-aged students, but it is a medical emergency and should be taken seriously if symptoms occur)
- Arterial dissection, which can occur in any artery in the body, and may occur in the absence of trauma or injury. This is a medical emergency which may present as sudden onset severe pain.
- Arterial rupture, which can occur in any artery in the body, and may occur in the absence of trauma or injury. This is a medical emergency which may present as sudden onset severe pain and/or rapid swelling of the area.
- Heavy bruising
- Frequent headaches

Impact on the Student

- Fatigue
- Restrictions on lifting (backpacks, textbooks, boxes, etc.)
- Restriction on activities, i.e., those that can increase heart rate or raise blood pressure
- Medication regimen may require taking doses at various times throughout the day
- Sudden, intense pain

Accommodations

- Take all medical complaints seriously
- Provide unlimited access to the nurse's office
- Adjust school schedule to allow for rest during the day while still meeting academic requirements
- Adjust class schedule and/or group classes together to limit movement between classes
- Provide additional time to get to classes
- Provide extra set of books for home use and/or second locker to accommodate lifting/carrying restrictions
- Modify physical education curriculum or offer alternative to physical education class
- Provide an escort, if necessary, when adjusting to new schedules or changing to new schools.

Note: Excessive activity increases heart rate and blood pressure, which increases stress on the heart and blood vessels. This could contribute to sudden artery dissections and aortic dissections, which are life-threatening complication of VEDS. Arterial emergencies are relatively rare in school-aged students, but chest pain should always be taken seriously. The risk of arterial and aortic emergencies may increase during puberty.

Bones and Joints

Medical Problems

- Loose and flexible joints
- Pain (often chronic)
- Poor coordination due to issues with proprioception
- Frequent headaches

Impact on the Student

- May not be able to sit comfortably for long periods of time
- Difficulty walking long distances
- May not be able to participate in regular physical education or field day activities
- Inability to carry heavy books long distances
- Difficulty with penmanship and/or writing for long periods of time
- Prone to joint injuries
- Muscle fatigue
- Body image issues
- Severely affected students may require use of a wheelchair (rare)

Accommodations

- Provide a special desk and/or chair
- Allow student to stand if unable to sit comfortably
- Provide additional time to get to classes
- Schedule classes in rooms near each other
- Assign homeroom and locker near to classes students will attend; alternatively, assign a second locker in another part of the building
- Allow access to nurse for pain management, as necessary
- Modify curriculum or offer alternative to physical education class (sample modified curriculum and physical activity guidelines are included in section III, Special Resources for the PE Teacher)
- Provide an extra set of books at home and a set of books in each classroom in order to cut down on the student having to carry books for several classes
- Grade handwriting with leniency
- Provide additional time for handwritten tests
- Offer options for handwritten assignments, such as an aide who can write for the student or a laptop or tablet
- · Wheelchair accessibility if required
- Provide a separate changing room for physical education class

Lungs

Medical Problems

- Asthma
- Sleep apnea
- Collapsed lung; this should be treated as a medical emergency. See section on Emergencies.
- Shortness of breath

Impact on the Student

- May need additional time to get from class to class
- May not be able to participate in regular physical education or field day activities
- May experience mental or physical fatigue

Accommodations

- Provide additional time to get to classes, and scheduling classes in nearby classrooms
- Allow access to nurse for medication or rest as necessary
- Provide for access to emergency inhaler if needed for asthma
- Modify physical education class or provide alternative to physical education class
- Adjust school schedule to allow for more free time for resting without relaxing academic requirements

Gastrointestinal

Medical Problems

- Frequent urination
- Difficulty passing a bowel movement, or constipation
- Gastrointestinal perforation, usually of the sigmoid colon
- Heartburn or other stomach upset

Impact on the Student

- May need additional bathroom breaks
- May feel ill frequently

Accommodations

- Provide additional bathroom breaks
- Allow access to nurse for medication or rest as necessary
- Allow student to complete school work at home in the case of gastrointestinal distress

What social and psychological problems do students with VEDS face?

Students with VEDS may look different from their peers. They may be bruised frequently, have visible veins, have an aged appearance to their skin (especially the hands), and have difficulty with their joints. They may sometimes require a brace or other device for joints that dislocate, or may tear their ligaments very easily.

Because of these physical differences, students with VEDS may be highly self-conscious and become the target of bullies. Special accommodations made for them sometimes make the situation even more challenging.

Educating classmates about VEDS can reduce the stigma and prevent bullying. A classroom or school-wide presentation about VEDS can be helpful. Teachers can try to include the student with VEDS, as well as his or her family, in the presentation.



Physical Education & Activity Guidelines

Regular exercise improves both physical and emotional well-being and can be incorporated safely into the routine of students with VEDS. A student with VEDS should have a physical education and activity program that is individualized to ensure safety.

Physical activity should be modified to help eliminate undue stress on the arteries, avoid physical injury, and avoid potential damage to loose ligaments or joints.

The goal of physical activity guidelines is to help students achieve the benefits of safe levels of exercise and, at the same time, ensure that they don't add to medical problems related to VEDS.

What should I know about physical activity for students with VEDS?

In general, most students living with VEDS should exercise regularly through low-intensity, low-impact activities adapted to meet their specific needs. They should avoid collision sports because of the risk of damaging the arteries. Strenuous activities, such as competitive sports and weightlifting, also should be avoided because of the stress placed on the arteries.

However, it's important to keep in mind that every activity can be done at different intensity levels, and no recommendation holds true in all circumstances. For example, shooting baskets in the driveway is different from playing a full-court basketball game, and bicycling ten miles in one hour on a level course is different from competing in a triathlon.

It is essential for each parent or guardian of a student with VEDS to discuss physical activities and specific activity levels with their student's physician so that exercise can be incorporated safely into physical education at school and in their regular healthcare routine.

What if VEDS is not formally diagnosed but suspected?

Sometimes VEDS is suspected, but has not been firmly diagnosed. In other cases, a diagnosis of VEDS has been made, but the individual currently doesn't have any serious symptoms. In these instances, determining whether to follow the physical activity guidelines is particularly confusing.

Several factors are considered in determining which activities are safe and which are not. These are: how strongly a diagnosis is suspected; whether there is family history of VEDS or a family history of early death; the age of the person; and level of activity planned. The individual's skeletal, heart, aortic, arterial, and lung condition are important to consider when deciding on safe levels of physical activity.

It is best for parents to speak with their child's vascular surgeon, cardiologist, medical geneticist, or specific medical specialist to determine what is considered safe.

What are the different types of exercise and competition?

Exercise can be classified by several characteristics.

- Aerobic activities are conducted at an intensity that permits oxygen to be used to generate energy. There is a balance between the needs of the muscles and the ability of the body to provide oxygen to the muscles. If the person exercising can carry on a conversation while exercising, it is at an aerobic level.
- In an anaerobic activity, there is insufficient oxygen and cells have to rely on internal sources, which become depleted quickly, leading to fatigue. Anaerobic activity is usually of higher intensity, and is thus more stressful to tissues and the cardiovascular system.
- Isokinetic exercise is when a muscle contracts through much of its full range of motion, such as the arm muscles when throwing a ball and the leg muscles when running.
- Isometric exercise is when a muscle is contracting without moving, such as when straining to lift a heavy weight or pushing a heavy piece of furniture. An increase in blood pressure, which stresses the heart, arteries and aorta, is greater with isometric exercise.

Most exercises and athletic activities involve a combination of isokinetic and isometric muscle work and aerobic and anaerobic energy use. The proportion of work and energy is determined by the nature of the activity, how strenuously a person is participating and, in team sports, even the position being played. Sports are classified based on the risk of collision (contact) and how strenuous they are.

What are the classifications of sports and activities?

The following table is modified from a classification devised by the American Academy of Pediatrics. Please note that many sports can fall within several categories, depending on the intensity of participation. It is essential that parents talk to their student's doctor about the sports and activities that are safe, and how to monitor exertion levels so that exercise remains safe throughout involvement.

To maximize safety of low intensity, non-contact activities, it is important to take necessary precautions, such as not carrying a heavy bag of golf clubs and avoiding intense competitive efforts.

Contact/collision high potential: Strenuous	Basketball, boxing, field hockey, football, ice hockey, lacrosse, martial arts, rodeo, skiing (water), soccer, wrestling
Contact limited: Strenuous	Baseball, bicycling (intense), gymnastics, horseback riding, skating (ice & roller), skiing (downhill & cross- country), softball, squash, volleyball
Noncontact: Strenuous	Aerobic dancing (high impact), crew, running (fast), weightlifting
Noncontact: Moderately Strenuous	Aerobic dancing (low impact), badminton, bicycling (leisurely), jogging, swimming (leisurely), table tennis, tennis
Noncontact: Nonstrenuous	Golf, bowling, walking

How does a student's medication impact physical activity?

Before beginning or increasing any exercise program, it is important for the student's doctor to assess the student's current level of physical fitness, health, and medications. The advice offered here is general, and is not meant to substitute for the recommendations of the student's personal physician.

Many students with VEDS take a beta-blocker medication to reduce stress on the arteries. This medication lowers the pulse at rest and during exercise, and makes it somewhat more difficult to achieve a given level of physical fitness for the amount of physical work performed. They do not, however, allow a person with VEDS to perform very strenuous exercises or play contact sports.

Some individuals with VEDS take medications called angiotensin receptor blockers or angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. Neither of these medications protect the aorta or arteries from strenuous exercise.

What are some guidelines and modifications that permit safer exercise for students with VEDS?

Physical activity modifications for students with VEDS include the following:

- Favor non-competitive activity performed at a non-strenuous aerobic pace. Especially suited are sports in which the student is free to rest whenever they feel tired and in which there is a minimal chance of sudden stops, rapid changes in direction, or contact with other players, equipment, or the ground. Some beneficial activities are brisk walking, leisurely bicycling, slow jogging, shooting baskets, slow-paced tennis, and use of light hand weights.
- Choose an activity the student can enjoy that can be performed three or four times per week for 20-30 minutes. If time is a major constraint, three 10-minute sessions are nearly as effective as one 30-minute session.
- Avoid activities that involve intense isometric work, such as weightlifting, climbing steep inclines, and doing pull-ups. When using a stationary cycle or a step-climber, keep the tension low. Multiple repetitions with low resistance or low weight are safer than a few repetitions with a larger weight.
- Do not test limits. This is particularly difficult for students during physical fitness tests in school and for students who once were competitive athletes.
- Wear protective gear. For example, high-quality helmets should always be worn while bicycling.

How can parents and the school guide a child to safe physical activity and exercise?

Adults who are newly diagnosed are usually able to reconcile the need to modify their exercise; however, modifying activity is a greater concern to parents who have a child who is newly diagnosed.

Sports are a big part of childhood in many families. Being part of a team helps develop social skills and self-esteem. It is understandably frustrating or upsetting to children who suddenly have physical activity restrictions (and for their parents), particularly if the child already has a passion or talent for a particular sport.

The general guidelines for students with VEDS are to avoid competitive and contact sports that

18

would put added stress on the arteries, cause abdominal trauma, or be potentially damaging to loose ligaments and joints. However, there are also concerns that go beyond the potential physical dangers.

Consider youth soccer, which is not an intensely competitive sport; it's more recreational and is not regarded as dangerous for children with VEDS because aortic or arterial dissection in a young child with VEDS is very rare. However, youth soccer leads to more competitive soccer in middle school and beyond. Asking a child to give up a sport after they have been involved for many years impacts their social circle and their self-esteem, and removes from their life an activity for which they have developed a passion and talent.

When children are diagnosed at a very young age, parents and teachers are encouraged to provide guidance for activities that are appropriate for the long-term. Golf, bowling, archery, piano, art, and music are just a few alternatives that can provide an outlet for creativity and competition while still providing the interaction and socialization a student needs.

When a diagnosis is made when someone is on an athletic scholarship in college, the new physical activity restrictions can be particularly devastating and life-changing. Yet, the alternative can be deadly.

If the student is having difficulty adjusting to the restrictions or has become depressed about necessary lifestyle changes, speaking with a therapist may be helpful. The VEDS Movement offers opportunities for parents of affected children to speak with other parents in our online support groups, or connect with others one-on-one. We also offer specialized programs for children, teens, and young adults at our annual family conference.

What are the suggested accommodations for students with VEDS?

To ensure the safest environment for a student with VEDS that allows them to participate to the greatest/safest extent possible, the physical education teacher should partner with the student's medical team) and parents.

It is not possible to create a single exercise program that is safe for all students who have VEDS. Each student's physician should provide the physical education teacher with information about safe activity levels for that student. The physical education teacher can then design activities within these levels. It may be helpful for the physical education teacher to provide the physician with a list of planned activities in the physical education curriculum.

In addition, a student may need assistance in developing a realistic self-concept of abilities and limitations.

General accommodations and suggestions

- Encourage the concept of the "personal best" to minimize competition between students and limit peer pressure.
- Instruct the student in safe levels of intensity and duration.
- Be receptive to a student with VEDS who reports certain symptoms, such as chest pain and difficulty breathing.
- Provide adequate time for gradual warm-up and cool-down.
- Monitor the student's level of exertion more closely in extreme weather conditions because heat and cold may add additional stress and may affect the student's endurance and exertion level
- A child with VEDS should be encouraged to take part in noncompetitive activities performed at a mild to moderate level, e.g., they aren't out of breath.

Physical education teachers who are monitoring the exertion level of a student with VEDS should be aware of the student's medication. Some medications slow the heart rate and therefore measuring heart rate is not a true indicator of exertion level.

Students with VEDS often have joint laxity or tightness and may struggle with chronic pain, fatigue, or joint dislocations.

Muscle strengthening can be helpful for these students. Focus on activities that increase strength of both muscles and ligaments. However, the student should only do exercises with a weight that enables 15-20 repetitions comfortably. Avoid activities involving heavy weights or intense isometric exertion. The student may be doing physical therapy outside of school; ask parents about coordinating with the student's physical therapist so that in-school physical education can complement it.

Modifications for required equipment

- If the student needs a brace during sports activities, his or her maneuverability, flexibility, speed, and endurance may be affected. The physical education teacher should be informed by an orthopedist what restrictions the brace creates. When a back or body brace is worn, the head and neck should be protected during physical activity by suitable padding.
- If hernias are present, the student may need to wear a supportive truss and the student will need instruction in proper lifting techniques. The physical education program may need to minimize activities that involve lifting or climbing.

Addressing fatigue issues

- Decreasing duration of an activity
- Decreasing size of playing area
- Allowing frequent "time out" periods
- Permitting participation at the student's own rate, with freedom to rest as necessary
- Eliminating competitive and emotional stress factors

Collision and contact concerns

- Assign zones of play
- Use individual activities
- Change nature of implement (e.g., foam balls instead of hard balls)
- Group students according to size, abilities, and needs
- Provide clear and concise directions, rules, and regulations
- Provide play area free of obstacles, barriers, or hazards
- Ensure proper padding of facilities and equipment according to activity

Curriculum suggestions

Grades K-3

• Movement exploration activities, games of low organization (with limitations as described above)

Grades 4-12

• Archery, billiards/pool, board games, bowling, bicycling (stationary and/or leisurely), croquet, dance/rhythms (rhythmic elements, singing games, folk, square, social), darts, golf, horseshoes, relaxation exercises, shuffleboard, walking, aquatics/water activities (safety skills, swimming strokes, pool exercises)

♥ Additional Resources

The VEDS Movement Publications

VEDS Need-to-Know Information for the Teacher: A companion resource to this school nurse guide, this contains a wealth of information and resources tailored to the teacher. Find it at TheVEDSMovement.org/resources-and-answers/parent-toolkit/school-safety.

Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome: This brochure contains more detailed information about VEDS. Find it at TheVEDSMovement.org/veds/what-is-veds.

Emergency Care Plan

The Emergency Care Plan (ECP) attached is customizable and will help record information about the student's condition and provides contact information for family, physicians, hospitals, and an ambulance service in the event of a medical emergency. Teachers, as well as the school nurse, principal, and other adults in the student's life should have a copy of it readily available.

See page 22.

VEDS Medical Action Plan

The VEDS Medical Action Plan attached is customizable and can be used as a quick reference guide for the teacher or nurse. It was designed to be used as a complement to the ECP.

See page 23.

Sample letter and checklist of VEDS features

A sample letter to the parent and a checklist of VEDS features attached will assist you in communicating your concerns to the parent without creating undue alarm.

See pages 24-25.

Individualized Health Plan (IHP)

A template for developing an Individualized Health Plan (IHP) for children with VEDS adapted with permission from Sunrise River Press is attached.

See pages 26-29.

National Association of School Nurse Statements

Official statements from the National Association of School Nurses on both Individual Health Plans (IHP) and Emergency Care Plans (ICP) are attached.

See pages 30-37.

The VEDS Movement/The Marfan Foundation Help and Resource Center

Staffed by a registered nurse, you can reach the Help and Resource Center by submitting your question at TheVEDSMovement.org/resources-and-answers/ask-a-question.

Note: The following may be signs of a trauma situation.

Sudden instances of chest, neck, abdominal, back, or flank pain; blood pressure/heart rate that is erratic; altered mental status or stroke symptoms; cold limb; eye pain or visual disturbance, shortness of breath/dizziness; sudden collapse or loss of consciousness.

EMERGENCY CARE PLAN					
Student:		Date:			
DOB:	Grade:	Homeroom:			
Parent(s)/Gaurdian(s):	Parent(s)/Gaurdian(s):				
Contact Information	Cell/Home Telephone Number	Work Telephone Number			
Parent					
Mother:					
Father:					
Healthcare Contact Information	Name	Telephone Number			
Primary Care Provider/Pediatrician					
Hospital Preference					
Ambulance Preference					
Health Insurance					
Cardiologist					
Orthopedist					
Geneticist					
Vascular Specialist					
Pulmonologist					
Other Care Provider					
Health Conditions					
Vascular Concerns					
Orthopedic Concerns					
GI Concerns					
Other Concerns					
Signatures					
Reviewed by:	Date:				
Student:	Date:				
School Nurse:	Date:				
Parent/Guardian:		Date:			

VEDS Medical Action Plan				
Name:		Date of Birth:	Effective Date:	
Doctor:		Parent/Guardian:		
Doctor's Office Phone (Da	y):	Parent's Phone:		
Emergency Contact (After	r Parent):	Contact Phone:		
Potential Trauma Situatio	ns:	Student's Picture:		
 Chest, neck, abdominal, Erratic blood pressure o Altered mental status Cold limbs (arms/legs) Sudden muscle weakness Eye pain, change in appedisturbance, or any unus Shortness of breath or d Sudden collapse/loss of 	r heart rate as or paralysis earance of the eyes, visual sual head symptoms lizziness			
Any spontaneous onset o sign of a medical emerge	f severe pain could be the ncy for this student.			
Emergency Protocols (Ch Call 911 Preferred Hospital: Preferred Ambulance Se Identifier: Notify Parent or Emerge Notify School Nurse Notify Doctor:	ervice/Department	Other Protocols for this St	udent	
Moderations at School an	d Circumstances to Avoid			
School Activities	Collision sports, heavy lifti Other:	ng, heavy exertion, muscle	straining.	
Medical Considerations	Conventional catheter arteriography, endoscopy, and colonoscopy should only be performed if they cannot be avoided, as they can be life threatening. Infor- mation about VEDS should be given to emergency personnel in case of medical emergency.			
Special Considerations	More frequent bathroom breaks, or more breaks due to pain or exhaustion. May need second set of books for home or additional locker to avoid carrying a heavy backpack. Refer to the VEDS School Nurse Guide for more information. Other:			

♥ Sample Letter to Parents

Dear _____:

I have observed that _____has the features checked on the reverse side. Because people with these features sometimes have a medical condition called VEDS (Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome), I strongly suggest they be checked for this condition by a geneticist.

Having these features does not always mean a person has VEDS, but it does mean a person should have an evaluation by a doctor familiar with the syndrome. Please take this letter to your child's doctor and ask for an evaluation.

For more information about VEDS, including what is needed for an evaluation, you can contact The VEDS Movement at TheVEDSMovement.org/resources-and-answers/ask-a-question.

Please feel free to call me if you would like to discuss these recommendations further.

Sincerely,

Name

Telephone

24

♥ Checklist of VEDS Features

Musculoskeletal System	► Skin			
Loose or flexible joints	Thin skin			
(double-jointedness or dislocations)	Translucent skin			
 Pain (often chronic) Muscle or tendon rupture 	Visible veins			
	 Aged appearance of the skin (especially on the hands) 			
Cardiovascular System	Early onset varicose veins			
Aortic root enlargement				
Aortic dissection	Characteristic Facial Appearance			
Arterial dissection/rupture	Small, narrow nose, large or sunken eyes,			
Heavy or unexplained bruising	thin lips			
Pulmonary System	Family History			
Spontaneous collapsed lung	Family member with early sudden death, unexplained or identified as VEDS			
Blebs	 Family history of aneurysms (aortic or other vessels) 			
Ocular System				
Carotid Cavernous Sinus Fistula (engorgement or redness of the eye, with pain behind the eye and swooshing sound)	 Other Observations 			
Keratoconus				

♥ Individualized Health Plan (IHP)

Adapted with permission from Sunrise River Press. "Individualized Healthcare Plans for the School Nurse." Book and software package available at: sunriseriverpress.com

Use this outline as a guide for development of a comprehensive IHP for VEDS.

1. Assessment

A. History

- Family health history
- Growth, development, and health prior to diagnosis
- Age at diagnosis
- Circumstances prompting evaluation and diagnosis
- Initial care and lifestyle changes
- Systems currently affected, severity
- Immediate and long-term prognosis
- Program of medical and surgical care
- Frequency of evaluations
- Results of last evaluation
- Family development of acceptance
- Student's development of acceptance
- Past supportive persons, support group involvement

B. Current Status and Management

- Height and weight
- Appearance of limbs, fingers, skin and toes
- Current vision, interval screening for vision complaints
- Emergency care plans (ECPs) for aortic dilatation and dissection or rupture, arterial aneurysms and rupture, bowel perforation and hollow organ rupture, sudden shortness of breath and pain associated with breathing. Include uterine rupture if child is pregnant.
- Current circulatory status: blood pressure, apical and radial pulse.
- Current respiratory status: bilateral lung sounds, respiratory rate and effort initially and if symptomatic
- Current medications
- Current therapies
- Nervous system function of lower extremities (weakness, numbness, pain)
- Current management plan
- Student and family's understanding of management plan
- Current activity tolerance: getting to and from school, traveling around both inside and outside the campus, recreational play, and physical education classes

Self-care

- Student's knowledge of health-care needs and management plan
- Ability to self monitor: activity tolerance, vision, skin, breathing
- Student's ability to advocate for self with staff
- Decision making skills

Psychosocial Status

- Student's acceptance of family interventions
- Student's utilization of coping strategies to deal with health condition: effective, ineffective
- Family's utilization of coping strategies to deal with health condition: effective, ineffective
- Behavioral issues: risk-taking behaviors, fear of performance
- Feelings about visible deformity and activity limitations
- Participation in school activities, community activities, family activities
- Supportive persons they are comfortable talking to (parents, physicians, school staff, psychologist, etc.)

Academic Issues

- Academic achievement: past and current
- School attendance pattern: reasons for absences
- Physical education and other activity restrictions
- Modifications needed in curriculum or course requirements: alternative assignments due to physical education restrictions, extended timelines for completion of assignments, and process to obtain missed assignments due to absences for appointments or illness
- School reentry plan following surgery

2. Nursing Diagnoses (N.D.) (NANDA, 2003)

- N.D. 1 Chronic self-esteem disturbance (NANDA 00119) related to diagnosis of chronic illness with multiple unknowns
- N.D. 2 Risk for activity intolerance (NANDA 00094 or 00092) related to:
 - o joint laxity
 - o respiratory problems
 - o cardiac problems
 - o vascular problems
 - o medication side effects
- N.D. 4 Ineffective breathing pattern (NANDA 00032) related to:
 - o potential for pneumothorax
- N.D. 5 Risk for powerlessness (NANDA 00152 or 00125) related to: current (or potential for) life-threatening health complications
- N.D. 7 Disturbance in body image (NANDA 00118) related to perception of physical disability:
 - o joint laxity
 - o surgical scars
 - o aged appearance of the skin
 - o bruising
- N.D. 8 Risk for injury (NANDA 00035) related to aortic or arterial dilatation, dissection or rupture; spontaneous pneumothorax, bowel perforation

3. Goals of IHP (with related Nursing Diagnoses)

- The student will participate in development and implementation of ECP. (N.D. 4, 8)
- The student will participate in development of emergency evacuation plan. (N.D. 2, 8)
- The student will be independent in the school setting. (N.D. 1, 2)
- The student will increase acceptance and positive self esteem. (N.D. 1, 5, 7)
- The student will increase their knowledge of the disease process. (N.D. 1, 5)
- The student will assist in identifying and implementing modifications to plan of care. (N.D. 5)
- The student will share personal health information appropriately with staff and peers. (N.D. 3, 5)
- The student will utilize healthy adaptation and coping skills. (N.D. 1, 3, 5, 8)
- The student will prevent predictable physical injury. (N.D. 3)
- The student will manage their pain effectively. (N.D. 3,6)
- The student will communicate effectively with parents/guardians and school staff about school-day health needs. (N.D. 1, 7, 8)

4. Nursing Interventions

- Periodically update health information with parent/guardian and student. (N.D. 3, 8)
- Assist the student to manage episodes of pain during the school day (ice-packing joints, medications, rest, etc.). (N.D. 2, 4, 6, 8)
- Obtain parent and physician authorization for administration of medication. (N.D. 2, 3, 4, 6, 8)
- Develop ECPs and revise as needed. (N.D. 8)
- Decide when and how information will be shared with education staff. Review and update regularly. (N.D. 7, 10)
- Establish plan with parents/guardians and student to obtain health updates and share information. Review regularly. (N.D. 5, 8)
- Educate school staff on student's individual needs and review emergency plans. (N.D. 8)
- Assist teachers to modify physical education activities and requirements, as needed. (N.D. 6)
- Review playground safety rules with student. (N.D. 6)
- Encourage student to report changes in vision, breathing, leg pain, activity intolerance, getting through halls, stairs, on and off bus, etc. (N.D. 5)
- Encourage independence and activity that does not put the student at risk for injury. (N.D. 1, 5, 6, 8)
- Screen vision, height, weight, spine as needed or as agreed upon with parents and physicians. (N.D. 3, 7, 8)
- Encourage student to verbalize feelings about chronic illness. (N.D. 1)
- Provide positive feedback to student, parents/guardians, and staff regarding effective management of symptoms. (N.D. 1, 5)
- Provide age-appropriate information on VEDS to the student. (N.D. 1)
- If surgery is required, assist in planning for homebound instruction and reintegration back into school. (N.D. 2)
- Provide student with opportunities to take on responsibilities for their care and control situations when appropriate (i.e., talking to primary care provider office for appointments with parent permission). (N.D. 1, 5, 8)
- Clarify misconceptions the student has about self-care. (N.D. 1, 5, 8)

- Provide assessment of student's subjective concerns as they occur, such as respiratory difficulty, irregular heartbeat, or activity intolerance. (N.D. 2, 5, 8)
- Teach student how to report abnormal symptoms to the teacher, health office, and parents/ guardians. (N.D. 4, 5, 8)
- Teach student how to advocate responsibly for self. (N.D. 7)
- Encourage student to express how they feel about or views themselves. (N.D. 1, 7)
- Encourage student to ask questions at home and at school to assist in making good decisions or problem solving. (N.D. 1, 5, 7)
- Assist teachers to organize school day to minimize:
- Pain and discomfort (N.D. 2)
- Energy expenditure, if activity intolerance is occurring (N.D. 2, 6)
- Assist the student and parents/guardians to obtain medical emergency identification bracelet or necklace. (N.D. 4, 8)
- Encourage the student to wear medical identification bracelet or necklace. (N.D. 4,8)

5. Expected Student Outcomes

The student will:

- Effectively communicate health concerns and needs to parents/guardians and school staff. (N.D. 1, 5)
- Identify and describe potential health problems. (N.D. 4,5)
- Demonstrate avoidance of risk activities that could cause injury. (N.D. 8)
- Follow ECP(s) and evacuation plan when required. (N.D. 6, 8)
- Describe what VEDS is and how it affects their body (age-appropriate). (N.D. 2, 3, 4, 6, 8)
- Participate in classroom activities, with specific activity limitations as needed. (N.D. 1, 2, 4, 6, 8)
- Demonstrate compliance with activity limitations. (N.D. 2, 8)
- Demonstrate effective coping and adaptation skills. (N.D. 1, 5, 7)
- Demonstrate independent mobility in the school environments. (N.D. 6)
- Utilize measures to minimize pain and discomfort during the school day. (N.D. 2, 3, 4, 6)
- Consistently wear medical emergency information bracelet or necklace. (N.D. 4, 8)



Use of Individualized Healthcare Plans to Support School Health Services

Position Statement

NASN POSITION

It is the position of the National Association of School Nurses (NASN) that the registered professional school nurse (hereinafter referred to as school nurse) initiates and develops an Individualized Healthcare Plan (IHP) for students whose healthcare needs require more complex school nursing services. An IHP is a plan of care written by the registered nurse for students with or at risk for physical or mental health needs (ANA & NASN, 2017). It is the responsibility of the school nurse to annually evaluate the IHP, as well as to update the plan if deemed appropriate, to reflect changes in the student's healthcare needs and address nursing interventions and/or student healthcare outcomes.

BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

A variety of documents is used in the educational setting to support student health, safety and success. Confusion often exists in the educational and healthcare fields regarding the purpose, components and content of the IHP. Many outside the profession of school nursing have attempted to define and describe the use of IHPs (Donoghue & Kraft, 2019; Hopkins & Hughes, 2016). Educators, families, non-school healthcare professionals, and even school nurses have used the term IHP to describe a multitude of health-related plans.

In the school setting, the IHP is the counterpart of the nursing care plan. With chronic health conditions affecting nearly one in four American school children (CDC, 2019), the IHP is a necessary tool for delineating the nursing plan of care to foster academic success and support optimal attendance. The IHP is created by the school nurse for the school nurse. The IHP fosters communication among nursing staff to promote continuity of care (Sampson & Will, 2017), for example, when a substitute nurse is required, or as the student progresses though the school system (Yonkaitis & Shannon, 2019). This document is based on the nursing process, utilizes nursing language, documents standards of school nursing practice, and is driven by outcomes (Galemore & Sheetz, 2015; NASN, 2017). It is the guiding document for delivery of student-specific nursing care, illustrating the school nurse's responsibility and accountability (NASN, 2017).

School nurses create an IHP for select students with healthcare needs that, if not addressed, may negatively affect, or have the potential to affect, attendance and/or academic performance. These students may have chronic health issues or have an acute alteration in their health status that may temporarily require specialized nursing care. Priority for IHP development must be given to those students who require significant health services at school, have a medical diagnosis that may result in a health crisis, and/or students with health conditions addressed in a Section 504 Accommodation Plan or an Individualized Educational Program (Yonkaitis & Shannon, 2019).

Depending on the health condition, IHPs may prompt the development of student Emergency Evacuation Plans (EEP) and/or Emergency Care Plans (ECP), both of which are initiated and developed by the school nurse. These plans stem from the intervention component of the IHP and provide instruction on addressing healthcare needs or appropriate response to a student's emergent healthcare issue (Sampson & Will, 2017). These plans use language best suited for the non-medical educational staff.

The school nursing profession is responsible for defining its own standards (ANA & NASN, 2017) and has stipulated the purpose and content of an IHP is to:

- Document standards of school nursing practice
- Document the nursing process
- Facilitate evidence-based management of the health condition
- Outline the relevant knowledge and actions needed by school personnel to support the student's access to a free and appropriate education
- Prepare for prompt responses to medical emergencies
- Support the health components of education plans for the student
- "Support the student's success by providing the school's multidisciplinary team with a systematic, organized approach to meeting specific health needs" (NASN, 2017 p. 2)
- Guide care coordination for the student
- Serve administrative purposes by defining the focus of nursing, validating the nurse's role in the school, and differentiating accountability of the nurse from other staff (Hermann, 2005)
- Provide an effective vehicle for documentation of nursing delegation when permitted by state nurse practice act and state law (Sampson & Will, 2017)

The IHP is a vital and practical tool to manage or mitigate student-specific healthcare needs. The school nurse is the sole professional qualified to generate an IHP. Utilizing NASN's *Framework for 21st Century School Nursing Practice*[™] (NASN, 2016) the school nurse, mobilizing the key principles of care coordination and quality improvement, initiates, develops, implements, evaluates and revises the IHP to maximize student health, support academic success, and optimize school attendance.

REFERENCES

- American Nurses Association & National Association of School Nurses. (2017). *School nursing: Scope* and standards of practice (3rd ed.). Silver Spring, MD: Authors.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Promoting health for children and adolescents. https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/children-health.htm
- Donoghue, E. A., & Kraft, C. A. (Eds.). (2019). *Managing chronic health needs in childcare and schools: A quick reference guide* (2nd ed., IrAXW). https://ebooks.aappublications.org/content/managing-chronic-health-needs-in-child-care-and-schools-2nd-ed
- Galemore, C. A., & Sheetz, A. H. (2015). IEP, IHP, and Section 504 Primer for new school nurses. NASN School Nurse, 30(2), 85–88.
- Hermann, D. (2005). Individualized healthcare plans. In C. Silkworth, M. Arnold, J. Harrigan, & D. Zaiger, (Eds.), *Individualized healthcare plans for the school nurse: Concepts, framework, issues and applications for school nursing practice* (pp. 1-4). North Branch, MN: Sunrise River Press.
- Hopkins, A. F., & Hughes, M. (2016). Individualized healthcare plans: Supporting children with chronic conditions in the classroom. *Young Exceptional Children*, 19(2), 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1096250614566538
- National Association of School Nurses. (2017). *The role of individualized healthcare plans in care coordination for students with chronic health conditions: Principles for practice*. Silver Spring, MD: Author.
- National Association of School Nurses. (2016). Framework for 21st century school nursing practice. NASN School Nurse, 31(1), 46-53. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1942602X15618644

- Sampson, C. H., & Will, I. S. (2017). IHP Basics and Using IHPs with other educational, health and home care agency plans. In I. S. Will, M. W. Arnold, & D. S. Zaiger (Eds.). *Individualized healthcare plans for the school nurse: A comprehensive resource for school nursing management of health conditions* (2nd ed., pp.1-10). (Forest Lake, MN: Sunrise River Press.
- Yonkaitis, C. F., & Shannon, R. A. (2019). Health and education plans for students with special healthcare needs. In J. Selekman, R. A. Shannon, & C. F. Yonkaitis (Eds.). *School nursing a comprehensive text.* (3rd ed., p. 179). (Philadelphia, PA: F. A. Davis Company.

Acknowledgement of Authors:

Gina Emge, MSN, RN, CSN-NJ Louise Wilson, MS, BSN, RN, NCSN Tina D. Miller, MA, BSN, RN, NCSN Andrea Ferguson, RN, CSN

Dates:

Adopted: June 1998

Revised: November 2003, March 2008, June 2008, June 2013, January 2015, January 2020

Suggested citation: National Association of School Nurses. (2020). *Use of individualized healthcare plans to support school health services* (Position Statement). Silver Spring, MD: Author.

"To optimize student health, safety and learning, it is the position of the National Association of School Nurses that a professional registered school nurse is present in every school all day, every day."

All position statements from the National Association of School Nurses will automatically expire five years after publication unless reaffirmed, revised, or retired at or before that time.

www.nasn.org National Association of School Nurses 1100 Wayne Avenue, Suite 925 Silver Spring, MD 20910 1-240-821-1130

Students with Chronic Health Conditions: The Role of the School Nurse



Position Statement

National Association of School Nurses

SUMMARY

It is the position of the National Association of School Nurses (NASN) that to optimize student health, safety, and learning, a professional registered school nurse (hereinafter referred to as school nurse) be present all day, every day. The American Academy of Pediatrics' Council on School Health (2016) highlights the important role school nurses play across a child's continuum of care and recommends that every school should have at least one nurse. The Every Student Succeeds Act (2015) identifies school nurses as leaders of student chronic disease management in schools. Utilizing the nursing process, the school nurse manages chronic health conditions in the school setting by providing direct care, providing case management, and advocating for students and families to help them access needed resources and support to achieve academic success (CDC, 2017b).

BACKGROUND

Chronic health conditions include acquired, incurable diseases and other illnesses lasting more than 12 months (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2011). These conditions include long-term physical, emotional, behavioral, functional and developmental disorders that occur along a continuum from mild to severely disabling (McClanahan & Weismuller, 2015). It is estimated that one in four students in United States schools may have a chronic health condition (Jackson, Vann, Kotch, Pahel, & Lee, 2011; Van Cleave, Gortmaker, & Perrin, 2010). Approximately 6% of those students have multiple chronic conditions leading to challenges with treatment adherence, disease acceptance, lifestyle modification, care coordination, increased exposure to chronic condition risk factors, and difficulties transitioning to adult healthcare settings (Anderson, 2010; Rezaee & Pollock, 2015). Children with chronic conditions are at risk for high absentee rates, low student engagement, dropping-out of school, exposure to bullying, disruptive behaviors, poor grades, and below-average performance on standardized achievement tests (Forrest, Bevans, Riley, Crespo, & Louis, 2011; Bethell et al., 2012). As life expectancy for students with chronic conditions increases, the complexity of the healthcare and educational service needs of students also increases (Martin & Osterman, 2013).

School nurses are responsible for informing educational communities about the impact of the chronic health condition(s) on students' abilities to engage in their education. These students' rights of participation and access to school healthcare services are protected by the Rehabilitation Act, Section 504 (1973) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act [IDEIA](2004). It is the responsibility of local school districts to educate students with chronic conditions in the least restrictive environment. The school nurse collaborates with education staff to promote a safe and accommodating school environment for children with chronic health conditions (American Nurses Association & National Association of School Nurses [NASN], 2017; Brook, Hiltz, Kopplin, & Lindeke, 2015).

RATIONALE

The special needs of students with chronic health conditions are complex and continuous. The school nurse has a pivotal role in:

- interpreting a student's health status;
- explaining the health impairment to the school team;
- translating the healthcare provider orders into the school setting by developing Individualized Healthcare Plans;
- providing assessment, direct care, coordination and evaluation of care;
- providing nursing delegation that aligns with state nurse practice acts, rules and regulations; and
- advocating for appropriate accommodations in the educational setting (Leroy, Wallin, & Lee, 2017; McClanahan & Weismuller, 2015; NASN, 2015; Zirkel, Granthom, & Lovato, 2012).

The services of a school nurse support readiness to learn, classroom participation, and academic progress (ANA & NASN, 2017; Bethell et al., 2012; NASN, 2015). Bethell et al., 2012; NASN, 2015). The Whole School, Whole Community, Whole Child Model (WSCC) (ASCD and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2014) reminds schools and communities that the child, at the center of educational systems, must be healthy, safe, engaged, supported and challenged. The school nurse works to support the constructs of WSCC by coordinating intervention and evaluation services, identifying previously unrecognized symptom patterns and student responses to those patterns, and referring students to the appropriate resources (CDC, 2017a). By assisting students with the management of their chronic conditions, the school nurse contributes to risk reduction, increased classroom seat time, decreased student absenteeism, improved academic success, and cost savings to families and educational and healthcare systems (Forbes, 2014; NASN, 2015; Wang et al., 2014, Michael, Merlo, Basch, Wentzel, & Wechsler, 2015). School nurses decrease chronic absenteeism by assisting families to access health care; by providing condition-related education to parents, students and staff; and by coordinating care between school, family and medical home (Jacobsen, Meeder, & Voskuil, 2016).

School nursing services result in improved health outcomes for students with chronic health conditions (Leroy et al., 2017). The school nurse, working within the constructs of the Framework for 21st Century School Nursing Practice (NASN, 2015) plays a decisive role in mitigating the long-term impact of chronic health conditions on children by coordinating the interests of families, education, healthcare systems, public health, insurance, and community agencies (McClanahan & Weismuller, 2015; Wolfe, 2013). Healthcare providers can utilize the power of school nurses to maintain the health of students who have chronic conditions at the highest level; decrease healthcare costs, unnecessary use of emergency rooms, and hospitalizations; and increase quality of care (Wang et al., 2014). The school nurse collaborates with transition planning teams to facilitate seamless movement of the student through the educational and healthcare settings (Bargeron, Contri, Gibbons, Ruch-Ross, & Sanabria, 2015; NASN, 2014). School nurse care coordination between "schools, parents and health-care providers assists students with chronic health conditions...to optimize health and learning" (Miller, Coffield, Leroy & Wallin, 2016, p. 362). Considering the positive impact school nurses have on health and academic outcomes of students with chronic conditions, school systems should develop processes to include school nurses at the outset of student enrollment and in special education individual education planning.

CONCLUSION

It is the position of NASN that to optimize student health, safety, and learning, a school nurse be present all day, every day. The school nurse is part of a comprehensive healthcare and education system. The school nurse is well positioned to support the health and academic success of students with chronic health conditions by providing

direct care and facilitating the many practice components of care coordination (Bargeron et al., 2015; Brook et al., 2015; NASN 2015). School nurse advocacy helps students and families to access needed resources in support of academic achievement (CDC, 2017). School nurses are leaders who provide care coordination, health education and promotion, quality improvement, and critical thinking skills that benefit schools, families, the healthcare system, and most importantly children with chronic health conditions.

REFERENCES

- American Academy of Pediatrics, Council on School Health. (2016). Role of the school nurse in providing school health services. *Pediatrics*, 137(6): e20160852. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-0852
- American Nurses Association & National Association of School Nurses. (2017). School *nursing: Scope and standards of practice* (3rd ed.) Silver Spring, MD: Nursebooks.org.
- Anderson, G. (2010). Chronic care: Making the case for ongoing care. Princeton, NH: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/reports/2010/rwjf54583.
- ASCD & Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Whole school, whole community, whole child: A collaborative approach to learning and health. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/ASCD/pdf/siteASCD/publications/wholechild/wscc-a-collaborative-approach.pdf
- Bargeron, J., Contri, D., Gibbons, L. J., Ruch-Ross, H. S., & Sanabria, K. (2015). Transition planning for youth with special healthcare needs in Illinois schools. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *31*(4), 253-260. doi:10.1177/1059840514542130
- Bethell, C., Forrest, C., Stumbo, S., Gombojav, N., Carle, A., & Irwin, C. (2012). Factors promoting or potentially impeding school success: Disparities and state variations for children with special healthcare needs. *Maternal* & Child Health Journal, 16 (Supp 1), S35-S43. doi: 10.1007/s10995-012-0993-z
- Brook, H. A., Hiltz, C. M., Kopplin, V. L., & Lindeke, L. L. (2015). Increasing epilepsy awareness in schools: A seizure smart schools project. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *31*(4), 246-252. doi: 10.1177/1059840514563761

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2017a). Research brief: Addressing the needs of students with chronic health conditions: Strategies for schools. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/chronic_conditions/pdfs/2017_02_15-How-Schools-Can-Students-with CHC_Final_508.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2017b). Managing chronic health conditions in schools: The role of the school nurse. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/chronic_conditions/pdfs/2017_02_15-FactSheet RoleOfSchoolNurses_FINAL_508.pdf

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). (2015). Public Law No: 114-95 (12/10/2015) https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/senate-bill/1177/text

- Forbes, T. H. (2014). Making the case for the nurse as the leader of care coordination. *Nursing Forum*, 49(3), 167-170. doi:10.1111/nuf.12064
- Forrest, C. B., Bevans, K. B., Riley, A. W., Crespo, R., & Louis, T. A. (2011). School outcomes for children with special health care needs. *Pediatrics*, *12*(2), *303 -312*. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2010-3347
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, 20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 *et seq.*; 34 C.F.R. Parts 300 *et seq*.
- Jackson, S.L., Vann, W.F., Kotch, J.B., Pahel, B.T., & Lee, J.Y. (2011). Impact of poor oral health on children's school attendance and performance. *American Journal of Public Health*, *101*(10), 1900-1906. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.200915
- Jacobsen, K, Meeder, L, & Voskuil, V. (2016). Chronic student absenteeism; the critical role of school nurses. NASN School Nurse, 31(3). doi: 10.1177/1942602X16638855
- Leroy, Z. C., Wallin, R., & Lee, S. (2017). The role of school health services in addressing the needs of students with chronic health conditions: A systematic review. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *33*(1), 64-72. doi: 10.1177/1059840516678909
- Martin, J.A. & Osterman, M.J.K. (2013). Preterm birth- United States, 2006 and 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 62*(03), 136-138. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/su6203a22.htm
- McClanahan, R., & Weismuller, P. (2015). School nurses and care coordination for children with complex needs: An integrative review. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *31*(1), 34-43. doi: 10.1177/1059840514550484
- Michael, S., Merlo, C., Basch, C., Wentzel, K., and Wechsler, H., (2015). Critical connections: Health and academics. *Journal of School Health*, *85*(11), 740-758. doi: 10.1111/josh.12309
- Miller, G. F., Coffiled, E., Leroy, Z., Wallin, R. (2016). Prevalence and costs of five chronic conditions in children. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *32*(5), 357-364. doi: 10.1177/1059840516641190

National Association of School Nurses. (2014). Transition planning for students with chronic health conditions (Position Statement). Retrieved from http://www.nasn.org/PolicyAdvocacy/PositionPapersandReports/NASNPositionStatementsFullView/tabid/46 2/ArticleId/644/Transition-Planning-for-Students-with-Chronic-Health-Conditions-Adopted-January-2014

National Association of School Nurses. (2015). Framework for 21st century school nursing practice. *NASN School Nurse, 30*(4), 218-231. doi:10.1177/10598405030190020301

Rehabilitation Act (Section 504): 29. U.S.C, 794; 20 U.S.C. 1405; 34 C.F.R. Part 104

Rezaee, M. E., & Pollock, M. (2015). Multiple chronic conditions among outpatient pediatric patients, southeastern

Michigan, 2008–2013. *Preventing Chronic Disease: Public Health Research, Practice and Policy, 12,* 140397. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd12.140397

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2011). *Health, United States, 2010: With special feature on death and dying.* Hyattsville, MD: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus10.pdf
- Van Cleave, J., Gortmaker, S.L., Perrin, J.M. (2010). Dynamics of obesity and chronic health conditions among children and youth. *JAMA*, *303*(7): 623-630. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.104
- Wang, L. Y., Vernon-Smiley, M., Gapinski, M., Desisto, M., Maughan, E., & Sheetz, A. (2014). Cost-benefit study of school nursing services. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *168*(7), 642-648. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.5441
- Wolfe, L. C. (2013). The profession of school nursing. In J. Selekman (Ed.), *School nursing: A comprehensive text* (2nded.) (pp.25-47). Philadelphia, PA: F.A. Davis Company.
- Zirkel, P. A., Granthom, M. F., & Lovato, L. (2012). Section 504 and student health problems: The pivotal position of the school nurse. *The Journal of School Nursing*, *28*(6), 423-432. doi: 10.1177/10598405012449358

Acknowledgement of Authors Laurie G. Combe, MN, RN, NCSN Cheryl Mattern, MEd, BSN, CSN Laurie Fleming, MPH, BS, RN, NCSN Suzie Killingsworth, DNP, RN-BC, CHES, NCSN

Adopted: June 2006 Revised: January 2012; June 2017

Suggested citation: National Association of School Nurses. (2017). *Students with chronic health conditions: The role of the school nurse* (Position Statement). Silver Spring, MD: Author.

This position statement replaces the position statement titled *Chronic Health Conditions Managed by School Nurses*.

All position statements from the National Association of School Nurses will automatically expire five years after publication unless reaffirmed, revised, or retired at or before that time.

www.nasn.org National Association of School Nurses 1100 Wayne Avenue, Suite 925 Silver Spring, MD 20910 1-240-821-1130



Charging forward. Saving lives.

Our Mission

The VEDS Movement mission is to save lives and improve the quality of life of individuals with Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (VEDS). By pursuing the most innovative research, educating the medical community, general public and affected individuals, and providing support to patients, families, and caregivers, we can charge forward and improve the outcomes for those living with VEDS.

22 Manhasset Avenue Port Washington, NY 11050 Tel: 516.883.8712 • 800.862.7326 Fax: 516.883.8040

TheVEDSMovement.org

A division of The Marfan Foundation.

